IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HOWARD H. LEWIS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-401

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER

NANCY RYAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 765910 112 ORANGE AVENUE DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 386/252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner, Howard Lewis, was charged with committing one count of robbery with a deadly weapon in case no. CR01-12656 in the Ninth Judicial Circuit; the offense was alleged to have taken place on September 14, 2001. (Vol. I, R 27) He was convicted, after a jury trial, of the lesser included offense of robbery with a weapon, a first-degree felony, on January 30, 2002. (Vol. I, R 61-62, 59) See Section 812.13(2)(b), Florida Statutes. He was sentenced on March 22, 2002, on that first-degree felony, to life in prison as a habitual violent felony offender, <u>see</u> Section 775.084(1)(b) and (4)(b), Florida Statutes, with a thirty-year minimum mandatory term under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act. See Section 775.082(9), Florida Statutes (1999); cf. Chapter 2002-211, Laws of Florida. (Vol. I, R 15-16, 90-91) At sentencing, the defense did not dispute that Mr. Lewis was convicted in 1998 of aggravated battery, which qualified him for enhanced sentencing under the habitual violent felony offender statute, and did not dispute that he was released from prison in August 22, 2001, which further qualified him for "Prison Releasee Reoffender" ("PRR") sentencing. (Vol. I, R 12-13, 73-74, 82)

After sentencing, Mr. Lewis, through counsel, moved to vacate his sentence as illegal on the ground that the 1999

amendments to various sentencing statutes had been passed in violation of the constitutional single-subject rule. (Vol. I, R 99) Thereafter, counsel for Mr. Lewis filed a timely notice of appeal from the orders of judgment and sentence. (Vol. I, R 101)

On appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, in case no. 5D02-1161, Mr. Lewis argued through counsel that the 30year minimum mandatory sentence he had received pursuant to the PRR provision, Section 775.082(9) Florida Statutes (1999), should be struck from his sentence. His position was that the PRR provision was significantly affected by the amendment made to it in Chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, and that enactment of 99-188 had violated the constitutional single-subject rule. (See appendix to this brief.) The State argued in response that the Fifth District Court had just held that "a 2002 statutory amendment to chapter 99-188 could be applied retroactively." (See State's appellate answer brief at 11, in the appendix to this brief.) The District Court affirmed Mr. Lewis's judgment and sentence, issuing an opinion which states in its entirety

> We affirm the appellant's conviction and sentence. We certify, however, as we did in <u>Hersey v. State</u>, 831 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), the question of whether the enactment of Chapter 02-210 [sic], Laws of Florida, cured the single-subject violation

of Chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida.

Lewis v. State, 836 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 5th DCA February 7, 2003).

On March 3, 2003, Mr. Lewis filed a timely notice in the Fifth District Court to invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction, and he now files this brief pursuant to this court's orders issued March 18, 2003 and April 17, 2003.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should hold that enactment of Chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, violated the single-subject rule, and should further hold that the Legislature's effort to retroactively cure that problem in 2002 had no legal effect in light of Article X, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT WRONGLY HELD THAT THE ENACTMENT OF CHAPTER 02-211, LAWS OF FLORIDA, CURED THE SINGLE-SUBJECT VIOLATION IN CHAPTER 99-188, LAWS OF FLORIDA.

The District Courts' decisions.

This case is before this court as a companion case to State v. Franklin, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2003) (en banc), no. SC03-413 (Fla. 2003). In Franklin, the Third District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the Second District Court's decision in Taylor v. State, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), rev. dism. 821 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 2002). In Taylor, the Second DCA held that Chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, violated the Florida Constitution's requirement that each legislative act must deal with only a single subject. Franklin, on the other hand, which was issued en banc over two dissenting opinions signed by four judges, holds that no single-subject violation affects Chapter 99-188. The First District Court appears to have allied itself with the Third, see Watson v. State, 2003 Fla. L. Weekly 1877193 (Fla. 1st DCA April 16, 2003), and the Fifth and apparently the Fourth District Courts agree with Taylor, but hold that the Legislature, by fiat, retroactively cured the single-subject problem in 2002. <u>Hersey v. State</u>, 831 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 5th DCA

2002), no. SC02-2630 (Fla. 2003); <u>see Nieves v. State</u>, 833 So. 2d 190 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); <u>see</u> Chapters 2002-208 through -212, Laws of Florida. The Second District Court has ruled that the Legislature cannot retroactively cure a single-subject problem, in <u>Green v. State</u>, 839 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) (certifying conflict with <u>Hersey</u> and <u>Nieves</u>), no. SC03-532 (Fla. 2003), and the Third District Court, in dictum, has announced en banc, without dissent, that "even before <u>Green</u>" it had "serious doubts" whether the Fifth District Court's retroactivity analysis has any merit. <u>Franklin</u>, <u>supra</u>, 836 So. 2d 1112 at 1114 n.5.

This court should hold that Chapter 99-188 did violate the single-subject rule, and should further hold that the Legislature's effort to retroactively cure that problem in 2002 had no legal effect.

The single-subject violation.

This court recently, in <u>Department of Highway Safety and</u> <u>Motor Vehicles v. Critchfield</u>, 2003 WL 1089288 (Fla. March 13, 2003), announced and applied the fundamental principles that govern the single-subject rule for legislation:

> Article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution provides, in pertinent part, that "[e]very law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly

expressed in the title." ...

The purpose of this constitutional prohibition against a plurality of subjects in a single legislative act is to prevent "logrolling" where a single enactment becomes a cloak for dissimilar legislation having no necessary or appropriate connection with the subject matter. The act may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connection.

2003 WL 1089288 at *2 (cites omitted.) In <u>Critchfield</u> this court held that passage of a 1998 chapter of the Laws of Florida violated the single-subject rule in that there was no natural or logical connection between the greater part of that law, which governed drivers' licenses and vehicle registrations, and a particular section of that law, which provided that the payees of worthless checks may assign the debt to private debt collectors and recover collection fees. In <u>Critchfield</u> this court also analyzed the legislative history of the 1998 law, noting that the focus of the bill shifted substantially as it moved from the House to the Senate, then back to the House one day before the close of the regular legislative session. 2003 WL 1089288 at 2-3.

The law now at issue before this court, Chapter 99-188, was similarly scrutinized by the Second District Court in <u>Taylor v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). The <u>Taylor</u> court reasonably found no natural or logical connection

between sections 11 and 13 of 99-188 and the remainder of the Chapter 99-188 recites that it may be cited as the law. "Three-Strikes Violent Felony Offender Act," see §1, and sections 3 and 6 create an enhanced sentencing provision for third-time violent felons (codified at Section 775.084(1)(c) and (4)(c), Florida Statutes), and incorporate that change by reference into an existing statute. Further, the statute's 21paragraph preamble (headed "WHEREAS") deplores crime rates and the extent to which they are attributable to "a relatively small number of repeat and violent felony offenders." See Taylor, 818 So. 2d at 546 and n.2. The remaining sections of 99-188, excluding **11 and 13**, either create, amend, incorporate by reference, or mandate publication of enhanced penalties for drug traffickers, repeat sexual batterers, those who commit offenses shortly after being released from prison, and those who assault or batter people over 65 or law enforcement officers. In contrast, Section 11 of 99-188 generally requires the clerks of the Circuit and County Courts to provide criminal records in all felony and misdemeanor cases to United States immigration officers - even those cases where only probation is imposed; and **Section 13** expands the definition of "conveyance" in the substantive burglary statute to include "railroad vehicles" -- in addition to "railroad cars," which

were already the possible subject of burglaries. The <u>Taylor</u> court concluded that **Section 13's** "slight expansion of a substantive criminal offense has only an attenuated relationship to sentencing," and that **Section 11**, the provision that alters the duties of the clerks of court vis-àvis immigration officials, "bears even less relationship to the act's other provisions...[it] addresses a purely administrative subject that is far afield of the act's other provisions." 818 So. 2d at 549.

Again reflecting the analysis in <u>Critchfield</u>, the court in <u>Taylor</u> reviewed the history of the bills that became Chapter 99-188, noting that **Section 13**, concerning "railroad vehicles," was added by the Senate on April 28, 1999, at the very end of that year's regular legislative session. The <u>Taylor</u> court concluded that that last-minute addition "occurred under circumstances that often lead to problems with the single subject rule...the addition of **Section 13** was an afterthought. This is exactly the type of 'log rolling' legislation that the single subject rule was intended to prevent." 818 So. 2d at 549. **Section 11** was also an add-on, first appearing in a House Committee substitute for the original bill, which had involved only enhanced-sentencing matters. <u>Cf</u>. HB 121 (Feb. 10, 1999) <u>with</u> CS/HB 121 (Feb. 24,

1999). <u>See http://www.leq.state.fl.us/house/Session</u>.

Neither <u>Critchfield</u> nor <u>Taylor</u> represents any departure from the established law that governs the single-subject rule for legislation. This court's decisions and opinions in <u>Heqqs</u> v. State, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000), State v. Thompson, 750 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1999), State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993), and <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1984), are strikingly similar to those issued in both Critchfield and Taylor. The laws invalidated in Heggs, Thompson, Johnson, and Bunnell each involved two disparate subjects of legislation: see <u>Heqqs</u>, 759 So. 2d at 626-28 and <u>Thompson</u>, 750 So. 2d at 647-48 (criminal penalties for recidivists, civil penalties for domestic batterers; two related 1995 laws invalidated); Johnson, 616 So. 2d at 2, 4 (criminal penalties for recidivists, licensing of private investigators); Bunnell, and 453 So. 2d at 809 (membership of Florida Criminal Justice Council and obstruction of justice.) Further, in Heggs and in Thompson, this court reviewed the relevant legislative history and noted that "[i]mportantly," House amendments added May 4, 1995 - again at the end of the regular session - had altered the substance and title of the original Senate bill. See <u>Thompson</u>, 750 So. 2d at 648; <u>see</u> <u>also</u> <u>Heqqs</u>, 759 So. 2d at 624-25.

The majority opinion in <u>State v. Franklin</u>, <u>supra</u>, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2003) (en banc), no. SC03-413 (Fla. 2003), in contrast to <u>Taylor</u>, represents a substantial departure from this court's analysis in single-subject cases. That majority opinion substitutes for analysis the cavalier statement

> since the Supreme Court will necessarily itself resolve the conflict with <u>Taylor</u> anyway, it is necessary only rather summarily to announce that we believe that each provision of the statute [sic] is sufficiently related to the others and to the general purpose of the act as a whole, and that the constitution is therefore satisfied.

836 So. 2d at 1113. The majority's judges further relieved themselves of these novel observations:

we see no principled reason why the general rule of harmlessness should not be applied to the present situation; that is, that a legislative "error" in attaching even an unrelated provision to an otherwise valid statute should not have any impact upon those, like this appellant, who are affected only by the valid ones.... [P]ersons like Franklin should be regarded as lacking constitutional "standing" to challenge of sections like 9, 11, and 13, which have nothing to do with them.... Franklin has no right to the passage of legislation in any particular way, and...to the contrary, the single subject provision affects only the legislators themselves.

Id. at n.4. These dicta are patently at odds with Heggs v.

<u>State</u>, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000), which expressly sets out when a single-subject violation can be cured by severance rather than by voiding the act in its entirety. Where, as here, the act is not an appropriations act, and its title and its body both pertain to more than one subject, severance is not possible and the act must be voided in its entirety. <u>Heqqs</u>, 759 So. 2d at 628-31.

This court should adopt the correct decision and careful opinion issued by the Second District Court in <u>Taylor v.</u> <u>State</u>, and hold that the Legislature's enactment of Chapter 99-188 violated the constitutional single-subject rule for legislation.

Retroactive effect of Chapter 2002-208 et seq.

In an express response to <u>Taylor</u>, the Legislature passed Chapters 2002-208 through -212, which separately reenacted various sentencing provisions that appeared in 99-188. Each of those chapters stated that its provisions "shall be applied retroactively to July 1, 1999, or as soon thereafter as the Constitution of the State of Florida and the Constitution of the United States may permit." <u>Green v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 839 So. 2d 748, 749-50 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), <u>citing</u> Chs. 02-208, §2; 02-209, §3; 02-210, §3; 02-211, §3; and 02-212, §4. The Second District Court in <u>Green</u>, declining to give Chapter 2002-212

retroactive effect, noted "this was the first time the legislature has undertaken a retroactive reenactment of criminal laws after they were found unconstitutional because of a single subject rule violation." 839 So. 2d 748 at 750.

Chapter 2002-211, section 2, re-enacted 99-188's amendments to the prison releasee reoffender act, and was applied retroactively by the District Court in this case; Chapter 2002-212, which was at issue in Green, re-enacted a drug-trafficking minimum mandatory sentence initially set out in 99-188. Mr. Green sought resentencing post-conviction under Taylor v. State, the Circuit Court in Pinellas County denied that relief based on retroactive application of 2002-212, and the Second District Court reversed the Circuit Court's ruling on ex post facto grounds. Green, 839 So. 2d at 751-53. On the ex post facto question the Second District Court has, again, carefully and correctly applied this court's precedent. This court should approve Green v. State and disapprove the Fifth District's decision in this case, both because the Second District Court's ex post facto analysis is correct as regards minimum mandatory sentences newly imposed under the 2002 chapters, and because Article X, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution demands the same result.

Two conditions must be present for an ex post facto

violation to occur: the new law must apply to events that occurred before its enactment, and it must disadvantage the offender who seeks relief. Green at 750-52, citing Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 430 (1987). All of the 2002 chapters at issue in the cases now before this court, by their terms, "beyond argument" seek to apply to events occurring before their enactment. Green at 750-51. Chapter 2002-212, by creating a new three-year mandatory minimum drug-trafficking sentence that was applied to Mr. Green, equally plainly was disadvantageous to him. Id; Lindsay v. Washington, 301 U.S. 397 (1937). The new minimum mandatory "three strikes" sentences which were reenacted in Chapter 2002-210, and which were applied in State v. Franklin, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2003) (en banc), no. SC03-413 (Fla. 2003), and in <u>Hersey</u> v. State, 831 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), no. SC02-2630 (Fla. 2003), also plainly disadvantage the defendants in those cases. Lindsay. Chapter 2002-211, s. 2, at issue in this case, amended the prison releasee reoffender act by allocating to the State, not the Circuit Court, the authority to finally determine whether ameliorating conditions exist which preclude the need to apply the minimum prison terms created by that act. While the change to 2002-211, s.2, does not clearly

implicate the ex post facto clauses,¹ Article X, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution precludes its retrospective application.

In Norman v. State, 826 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), the defendant was convicted of sale of cocaine without the benefit of a jury instruction mandated by <u>McMillon v. State</u>, 813 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 2002), in which this court added an element to that offense. The State argued that Chapter 2002-258, Laws of Florida, which purports to supersede <u>McMillon</u>, justified affirmance although Norman's offense took place in 2000. The First DCA disagreed based on Article X, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution, which provides that "[r]epeal or amendment of a criminal statute shall not affect prosecution or punishment for any crime previously committed." <u>Norman</u>, 826 So. 2d at 441.

Article X, Section 9 operates independently of the ex post facto clauses; it denies the legislature power to either increase or ameliorate punishment, by either repealing or amending a statute, after a crime is committed. <u>Norman</u> at 442;

¹Procedural changes to the law do not run afoul of ex post facto protections. <u>Lynce v. Mathis</u>, 519 U.S. 433, 447 n. 17 (1997); <u>Weaver v. Graham</u>, 450 U.S. 24, 32, n.17 (1981); <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282 (1977). A change to the law that alters the roles of the judge and jury in sentencing is procedural. <u>Weaver v. Graham</u>, 450 U.S. at 32, n.17, <u>citing</u> <u>Dobbert</u>.

see generally Allen v. State, 383 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). In contrast, as the U.S. Supreme Court noted in <u>Dobbert</u>, "the inhibition upon the passage of ex post facto laws does not give a criminal a right to be tried, in all respects, by the law in force when the crime charged was committed. The constitutional provision was intended to secure substantial personal rights against arbitrary and oppressive legislation, and not to limit the legislative control of remedies and modes of procedure." 432 U.S. at 293 (cites and punctuation omitted.) Article X, Section 9 places precisely such a limit on the Florida Legislature in the criminal-law context, and disposes of the retrospective-application issue in this case.

CONCLUSION

The petitioner requests this court

- ! to quash the decision of the District Court of
 Appeal in this case;
- I to approve <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. dism. 821 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 2002) and <u>Hersey v. State</u>, 831 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), to the extent they hold that Chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, violated the single-subject requirement in the Florida Constitution and is void;
- ! to disapprove the decisions in this case, and in <u>Hersey</u>, to the extent they hold that the Legislature in 2002 effectively cured the single-subject problem with retroactive effect when it enacted Chapters 2002-208 through 2002-212; and
- ! to hold that Article X, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution precludes retrospective application of Chapters 2002-208 through -212.