IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HOWARD LEWIS,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC03-401

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY G. JOLLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 0080454

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 618550

444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 (386) 238-4997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

In all, this Court has held that the test for determining duplicity of a subject "is whether or not the provisions of the

bill are designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort." <u>Burch</u>, 558 So.2d at 2. Here, each section, while covering a broad range of provisions, is reasonably related and serves the broad purpose of accelerating the reduction in crime and incapacitating repeat offenders, the goals of this Act "relating to sentencing." The provisions of this Act do not accomplish separate and disassociated objects by the legislature and there is no legitimate fear that these two sections were enacted through logrolling. Where, as here, there is a logical nexus between the Act's various provisions, and adhering to the presumption of constitutionality, the single subject requirement of the Florida Constitution has not been violated by the enactment of chapter 99-188.

<u>Standing</u>

Lewis fails to set forth which portion of the Act detrimentally affects him. While Lewis argues that sections eleven and thirteen render the Act unconstitutional for violation of the single subject rule as found in <u>Taylor</u>, his sentence is completely unaffected by the inclusion of these sections. For this reason, the State also submits that Lewis lacks standing to make this constitutional challenge.

A party may not challenge the constitutionality of a portion of a statute which does not affect them. <u>State v. Hagan</u>, 387

So.2d 943, 945 (Fla. 1980). Lewis concedes that he did not dispute that he qualified for sentencing as a habitual violent felony offender and a prison releasee reoffender as his counsel agreed at the sentencing hearing. Petitioner's Br. at 1; Vol. II, T. 13. Thus, Lewis was sentenced pursuant to sections two and three of this Act, and sections eleven and thirteen have no application to him. Accordingly, he lacks the standing to make a constitutional attack on sections of the Act which are completely unrelated to him and have no impact on him. See Franklin, 836 So.2d at 1114 n. 4 (citing 10 Fla. Jur. 2d Constitutional Law § 73 at 431 (1997)); Isaac v. State, 626 So.2d 1082, 1083 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), rev. denied, 634 So.2d 624 1994)(defendant lacks standing to (Fla. challenge constitutionality of statute because "it is apparent from the face of the record that he has not been adversely affected by the asserted infirmity in the statute"). His prison releasee reoffender sentence would have been the same before the amendments in chapter 99-188 under section 775.082 of the Florida Statutes (1998 Supp.) and thus, he has no basis for relief. Cf. Diaz v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D1053 (Fla. 5th DCA April 25, 2003); Lindsey v. State, 839 So.2d 737 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). Accordingly, Lewis lacks the standing to make this constitutional challenge.

<u>Severability</u>

Even is this Court were to follow <u>Taylor</u> and find that the inclusion of sections eleven and thirteen in the Act violate the single subject rule, the <u>Taylor</u> court erred in declaring the entire act unconstitutional. <u>Taylor</u>, 818 So.2d at 550. The <u>Taylor</u> court failed to consider the alternative and more appropriate remedy of severability.

This Court has held that the proper remedy for a single subject violation is to sever the parts of the act which are not properly connected to the single subject thereof, leaving intact the valid provisions of the act. <u>See Tormey v. Moore</u>, 824 So.2d 137, 142 (Fla. 2002); <u>Moreau v. Lewis</u>, 648 So.2d 124, 127 (Fla. 1995). This Court opined:

An unconstitutional portion of a general law may be deleted and the remainder allowed to stand if the unconstitutional provision can be logically separated from the remaining valid provisions, that is, if the legislative purpose expressed in the valid provisions can be accomplished independently of those which are void; and the good and bad features are not inseparable and the Legislature would have passed one without the other; and an act complete in itself remains after the invalid provisions are stricken.

<u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Presbyterian Homes v. Wood</u>, 297 So.2d 556, 559 (Fla. 1974)).

Severing sections eleven and thirteen is the proper remedy in this case as the valid sections of this Act can be logically severed from the two "invalid" sections and stand on their own to accomplish the expressed legislative purpose. In other words, removal of the offending portions, sections eleven (alien documents to the INS) and thirteen (redefining `conveyance'), would not, in any way, hinder the accomplishment of the valid provisions concerning sentencing.

Should this Court find a violation of the single subject rule, rather than declare the entire act unconstitutional, this Court should simply sever sections eleven and thirteen so that the valid provisions addressing the sentencing of offenders, the goal of this Act, can be accomplished. <u>See Lee</u>, 356 So.2d at 283 (because legislative purposes behind enactment of remaining portions of act can be accomplished independently of offending section, the offending section is properly severable).

Finally, as a last resort, this Court should note that section three of the Act creates the sentencing scheme for the three time violent felony offender and that enactment corresponds to the name given for citing this Act, "Three-Strike Violent Felony Offender Act." At the barest minimum, that portion of the act comports with the single subject rule and should be left in tact with the remaining sections of the act being severed. <u>Tormey</u>, 824 So.2d at 142.

Retroactivity of Legislative Reenactment of Chapter 99-188

If this Court were to declare chapter 99-188

unconstitutional for the single subject rule violation, that unconstitutionality has been cured by later legislative enactments which can be retroactively applied to Lewis and others similarly situated. Lewis relies primarily upon the Second District's opinion in <u>Green v. State</u>, 839 So.2d 748 (Fla. 2003) to argue that the retroactive application of these enactments violates the ex post facto clause of the Florida Constitution. <u>See</u> Art. X, Sec. 9, Fla. Const. The State disagrees.

Chapter 99-188 was reenacted in 2002 in chapters 02-208, 02-209, 02-210, 02-211, and 02-212. The Act, as reenacted, has corrected the alleged single subject problems of its predecessor and may be applied without constituting an ex post facto violation.

Each chapter enacted in 2002 contains a preamble in which the Legislature stated its intent.¹ Lewis was sentenced pursuant to

WHEREAS, a three-judge panel of the District Court of Appeal

¹ Each preamble states:

WHEREAS, in 1999 the Legislature adopted chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, with the primary motivation of reducing crime in this state and to protect the public from violent criminals through the adoption of enhanced and mandatory sentences for violent and repeat offenders, for persons involved in drugrelated crimes, committing aggravated battery or aggravated assault on law enforcement personnel or the elderly, and for persons committing criminal acts while in prison or while having escaped from prison, and

of Florida, Second District, has issued a nonfinal opinion declaring chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, unconstitutional as a violation of the requirement in Section 6, Article III of the Florida Constitution that "every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith...", finding that the addition of two minor provisions relating to burglary of railroad vehicles and the provision of sentencing documents relative to aliens to the Immigration and Naturalization service were not matters properly connected with the subject of the 1999 act, which was "sentencing," and

WHEREAS, the nonfinal ruling on this matter was issued while the Legislature was in session, and

WHEREAS, the Attorney General, on behalf of the people of the State of Florida, has indicated a determination to seek rehearing, en banc, of this matter, and

WHEREAS, a final opinion by the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District, declaring chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, to have been in violation of Section 6, Article III of the Florida Constitution would be subject to appeal by the state to the Florida Supreme Court, and

WHEREAS, in its nonfinal ruling, the panel of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District, has certified its decision as passing on two questions of great public importance with respect to chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, further invoking the jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court, and

WHEREAS, the final resolution as to the constitutionality of chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, remains uncertain, and is unlikely to be finally determined by the judicial system, while the 2002 legislative session is in progress, and

WHEREAS, the Legislature, only out of an abundance of caution due to tentative posture of the law while it awaits final resolution by the District Court of Appeal and the Florida Supreme Court, has prepared five separate bills to reenact selected provisions of chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, all of which relate to the single general issue of sentencing in criminal cases, and

WHEREAS, the Legislature does not intend the division of

chapter 99-188 as a prison releasee reoffender and it is that portion of chapter 99-188 that he has challenged. That aspect of chapter 99-188 was reenacted in chapter 02-211. Section three of chapter 2002-211 specifically provides for its retroactive application to July 1, 1999:

Section 3. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this act, the provisions reenacted by this act shall be applied retroactively to July 1, 1999, or as soon thereafter as the Constitution of the State of Florida and the Constitution of the United States may permit.

This law became effective April 29, 2002, when it was signed by the governor.

In determining whether a statute should be applied retroactively, the first inquiry is whether there is clear evidence of legislative intent to apply the statute retroactively, and if so, the second inquiry is whether the retroactive application is constitutionally permissible. <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corp.</u>, 737 So.2d 494, 499 (Fla. 1999).

Here, chapter 02-211 contains an express command that the statute apply retroactively. Further, it does not violate the

these bills relating to sentencing as any kind of legislative acknowledgment that said bills could not or should not be joined together in a single bill in full compliance with Section 6, Article III of the Florida Constitution, NOW THEREFORE,

ex post facto provision because at the time Lewis committed his offense chapter 99-188 had not yet been held unconstitutional and was in full force and effect. Thus, at the time he committed his crimes, Lewis knew what conduct was prohibited and what the penalty for that criminal conduct was.

This conclusion is supported by <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282 (1977). The United States Supreme Court held that Dobbert's death sentence did not constitute an ex post facto violation despite the death penalty having been determined to be invalid in <u>Donaldson v. Sack</u>, 265 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1972).

The <u>Dobbert</u> court held that the existence of the earlier death penalty statute served as an "operative fact" to warn Dobbert of the penalty which Florida would seek to impose on him if he were convicted of murder. In response to Dobbert's claim that there was no death penalty 'in effect' at the time of his offense, the court explained:

But this sophisticated argument mocks the substance of the Ex Post Facto Clause. Whether or not the old statute would in the future, withstand constitutional attack, it clearly indicated Florida's view of the severity of murder and of the degree of punishment which the legislature wished to impose upon murderers. The statute was intended to provide maximum deterrence, and its existence on the statute books provided fair warning as to the degree of culpability which the State ascribed to the act of murder.

Petitioner's highly technical argument is at odds with the statement of this Court in <u>Chicot County</u>

Drainage District v. Baxter State Bank, 308 U.S. 371, 374, 60 S.Ct. 317, 318, 84 L.Ed. 329 (1940):

The courts below have proceeded on the theory that the Act of Congress, having been found to be unconstitutional, was not a law: that it was inoperative, conferring no rights and imposing no duties, and hence affording no basis for the challenged decree. (citations omitted). It is quite clear, however, that such broad statements as to the effect of a determination of unconstitutionality must be taken with qualifications. The actual existence of a statute, prior to such a determination, is an operative fact and may have consequences which cannot justly be ignored.

Here the existence of the statute served as an 'operative fact' to warn the petitioner of the penalty which Florida would seek to impose on him if he were convicted of first-degree murder. This was sufficient compliance with the ex post facto provision of the United States Constitution.

Dobbert, 432 U.S. at 294-296.

In the instant case, the existence of chapter 99-188 at the time Lewis committed his offenses served as an operative fact to warn him of the provisions of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act under which he was sentenced and which he now contests. "The fact that the State ultimately corrected the defect in the later legislation to require exactly that which it had invalidly required earlier and then mandated a retroactive application of the amendment does not, according to <u>Dobbert</u>, violate the ex post facto provision of the United States Constitution." <u>Carlson v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D2162 (Fla. 5th DCA October 4, 2002). Thus, here, as in <u>Dobbert</u>, there would be no ex post

facto violation in applying chapter 02-211 to Lewis.

In <u>Green v. State</u>, 839 So.2d 748, 752 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District rejected this "operative fact" analysis, stating "we cannot fathom how an unconstitutionally enacted law, which therefore never had any actual effect could serve as an operative fact under the Dobbert analysis." (quotations and emphasis omitted). The Second District's analysis of <u>Dobbert</u> and its rejection in this specific single subject context ignores common sense and the uniqueness of a single subject violation. The substance of chapter 99-188 is not unconstitutional, the purported unconstitutionality rests solely in its form. Its effect on the sentencing statutes involved is only a coincidental by-product of the single subjection violation.

Retroactive application will have no harm to defendants such as Lewis as he was sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender under section two of chapter 99-188. That law has not changed with the new enactment of chapter 02-211. The sections which render chapter 99-188 constitutionally infirm ultimately have no bearing on Lewis's sentence. He was aware of the penalty and absent the technical defect in the form of chapter 99-188, his penalty would remain the same. For the same reasons why Lewis has no standing to challenge chapter 99-188 on constitutional

grounds, he further cannot allege that the retroactive application changes his sentence or detrimentally affects him. <u>See Calder v. Bull</u>, 3 Dall. 386, 390, 1 L.Ed. 648 (1798)(an ex post facto law is one that "changes the punishment, and inflicts a greater punishment, than the law annexed to the crime, when committed"). In all, the "operative fact" as delineated in <u>Dobbert</u> is that Lewis was on notice that he would be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender, and that has not changed. Accordingly, there is no ex post facto violation. <u>See Hersey</u>, 831 So.2d at 679.

Because the Fifth District properly found that the 2002 reenactments cured the constitutional defect and can be retroactively applied, this Court should affirm Lewis's sentence in all respects.

Window Period

Finally, the window period for challenging a law opens on the effective date of the challenged law and closes when the defect is "cured." <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Salters v. State</u>, 758 So.2d 667, 671 (Fla. 2000)(holding that window period for challenging chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida, opened when the chapter became effective and closed on May 24, 1997, the effective date of chapter 97-97, Laws of Florida, which reenacted the amendments contained in chapter 95-182). Further, the State recognizes

that in <u>Taylor</u>, the court held that the window period for asserting a single subject rule challenge to chapter 99-188 opened on July 1, 1999. <u>Taylor</u>, 818 So.2d at 550. This is consistent with other single subject violation cases. <u>See Heggs</u> <u>v. State</u>, 759 So.2d 620 (Fla. 2000)(sentencing guidelines) and <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 750 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1999)(violent career criminal).

However, the State submits that the issue of a window period is rendered moot in light of chapter 99-188's reenactment in chapter 02-211. The statutes declared unconstitutional in <u>Heggs</u> and <u>Thompson</u> were reenacted by biennial adoption of the Florida Statutes, not by a specific reenactment statute making the reenactment retroactive to the initial enactment of the session law in question.

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